

A review of treatment modalities in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (GACR)

Balfoort, B.M.; Buijs, M.J.N.; Asbroek, A.L.M.A. ten; Bergen, A.A.B.; Boon, C.J.F.; Ferreira, E.A.; ...; Brands, M.M.

Citation

Balfoort, B. M., Buijs, M. J. N., Asbroek, A. L. M. A. ten, Bergen, A. A. B., Boon, C. J. F., Ferreira, E. A., ... Brands, M. M. (2021). A review of treatment modalities in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (GACR). *Molecular Genetics And Metabolism*, *134*(1-2), 96-116. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2021.07.010

Version:Publisher's VersionLicense:Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 licenseDownloaded from:https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3274164

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Molecular Genetics and Metabolism



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ymgme

Review article

A review of treatment modalities in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (GACR)



Berith M. Balfoort ^{a,1}, Mark J.N. Buijs ^{b,1}, Anneloor L.M.A. ten Asbroek ^b, Arthur A.B. Bergen ^{b,c}, Camiel J.F. Boon ^{c,g}, Elise A. Ferreira ^a, Riekelt H. Houtkooper ^d, Margreet A.E.M. Wagenmakers ^h, Ronald J.A. Wanders ^d, Hans R. Waterham ^d, Corrie Timmer ^e, Clara D. van Karnebeek ^{a,f,2}, Marion M. Brands ^{a,2,*}

^a Department of Paediatrics, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

^b Department of Clinical Genetics, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

^c Department of Ophthalmology, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

e Department Endocrinology and Metabolism Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

^f Department of Paediatrics, Radboud Centre for Mitochondrial Medicine, Radboud University Medical Centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands

^g Department of Ophthalmology, Leiden University Medical Centre, 2333, ZA, Leiden, the Netherlands

^h Department of Internal Medicine, Centre for Lysosomal and Metabolic Diseases, Erasmus MC, University Medical Centre Rotterdam, the Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 April 2021 Received in revised form 2 July 2021 Accepted 23 July 2021 Available online 26 July 2021

Keywords: Gyrate atrophy Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina Therapy

Pyridoxine Oat Ornithine Ornithine aminotransferase Protein-restriction Areinine-restriction

ABSTRACT

Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (GACR) is a rare inborn error of amino acid metabolism caused by bi-allelic variations in *OAT*. GACR is characterised by vision decline in early life eventually leading to complete blindness, and high plasma ornithine levels. There is no curative treatment for GACR, although several therapeutic modalities aim to slow progression of the disease by targeting different steps within the ornithine pathway. No international treatment protocol is available. We systematically collected all international literature on therapeutic interventions in GACR to provide an overview of published treatment effects.

Methods: Following the PRISMA guidelines, we conducted a systematic review of the English literature until December 22nd 2020. PubMed and Embase databases were searched for studies related to therapeutic interventions in patients with GACR.

Results: A total of 33 studies (n = 107 patients) met the inclusion criteria. Most studies were designed as case reports (n = 27) or case series (n = 4). No randomised controlled trials or large cohort studies were found. Treatments applied were protein-restricted diets, pyridoxine supplementation, creatine or creatine precursor supplementation, L-lysine supplementation, and proline supplementation. Protein-restricted diets lowered ornithine levels ranging from 16.0–91.2%. Pyridoxine responsiveness was reported in 30% of included mutations. Lysine supplementation decreased ornithine levels with 21–34%. Quality assessment showed low to moderate quality of the articles.

Conclusions: Based primarily on case reports ornithine levels can be reduced by using a protein restricted diet, pyridoxine supplementation (variation-dependent) and/or lysine supplementation. The lack of pre-defined clinical outcome measures and structural follow-up in all included studies impeded conclusions on clinical effectiveness. Future research should be aimed at 1) Unravelling the OAT biochemical pathway to identify other possible pathologic metabolites besides ornithine, 2) Pre-defining GACR specific clinical outcome measures, and 3) Establishing an international historical cohort.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

¹ Shared first authorship

² Shared senior authorship

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2021.07.010

1096-7192/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^d Laboratory Genetic Metabolic Diseases, Amsterdam Gastroenterology, Endocrinology, and Metabolism, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Paediatrics, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, 1105, AZ, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. *E-mail address*: m.m.brands@amsterdamumc.nl (M.M. Brands).

Contents

1.	1. Introduction	97
2.	2. Methods	97
	2.1. Search strategy and eligibility criteria	
	2.2. Data extraction and synthesis	
	2.3. Data quality	
3.	3. Results	
	3.1. Search and quality of evidence	
	3.2. Clinical characteristics	
	3.3. Genotypes	
	3.4. Treatment	
	3.4.1. Outcome measures	
	3.4.2. Protein-restricted diet	
	3.4.3. Pyridoxine supplementation	
	3.4.4. L-lysine supplementation	
	3.4.5. Proline supplementation	
	3.4.6. Creatine and precursor supplementation	
	3.4.7. Combination therapy	
4.	4. Discussion and conclusions	
5.	5. Limitations	
6.	6. Future directions	
Decl	Declaration of Competing Interest	
Ackı	Acknowledgments	
Refe	References	

1. Introduction

Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (GACR) (OMIM #258870) is a rare autosomal recessive disorder of amino acid metabolism. The disease is clinically characterised by a progressive vision loss in the early decades of life. First symptoms are often night blindness and constriction of visual fields due to peripheral chorioretinal degeneration, eventually leading to marked central vision loss and complete blindness when the macula is also affected. Although the precise incidence if GACR is not known it is estimated to be around 1:1,500,000 live births, with the highest incidence found in Finland (1:50,000) [1].

GACR is caused by bi-allelic pathogenic variants in the OAT gene, encoding the mitochondrial enzyme ornithine- δ -aminotransferase (OAT). OAT plays a central role in ornithine metabolism by catalysing the reversible reaction that converts ornithine and 2-oxoglutarate (α -KG) into glutamate- 5-semialdehyde (GSA) and glutamate (Glu). Glutamate 5-semialdehyde is in a chemical, non-enzymatic equilibrium with Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C), a precursor of proline and glutamate [2]. OAT is a vitamin B6-dependent enzyme which requires pyridoxal phosphate to catalyse its enzymatic function [3] (Fig. 1).

Pathogenic bi-allelic variants in *OAT* result in absent or decreased enzyme activity and thus impair the aforementioned metabolic process. As a result, markedly elevated ornithine levels can be observed in plasma and other bodily fluids of patients with GACR. Unfortunately, GACR is often diagnosed at a late stage of the disease, when the retina is already severely affected and vision is impaired. This is due to the rarity of the disease in combination with the great phenotypic heterogeneity among patients, even between siblings and groups with the same sex, age, or pathogenic variant [4].

The disease-causing mechanism of GACR is unclear and as of yet, there is no curative treatment. It has been suggested that the high levels of ornithine are toxic to the delicate structures of the retina and that early interventions that lower ornithine levels may prevent or delay disease progression [5]. Although GACR is mostly known for its ophthalmic problems a wider range of symptoms, such as neurological and skeletal muscle symptoms, have been reported [6].

However, due to the lack of high quality natural history studies, the full clinical spectrum of GACR is still not fully known. Typical eye findings include myopia, night blindness, and/or progressive vision loss.

Another rather common manifestation includes cystoid macular oedema (CME). Chorioretinal degeneration leads to a progressive constriction of the peripheral visual fields and a loss of visual acuity (Fig. 2). Additionally, patients often develop (bilateral) cataracts [7,8]. In several patients, cognitive changes and structural and functional brain abnormalities on MRI and EEG have been reported, which might be related to secondary creatine deficiency as a result of hyperornithinaemia [6,9,10]. Skeletal muscle weakness and polyneuropathy have also been reported [11].

Currently applied therapeutic interventions are targeted at several steps within the ornithine pathway. These interventions are mainly nutritional, *i.e.* life-long dietary restriction of natural protein which thus includes arginine with the aim to reduce ornithine levels, in combination with other therapeutic measures including supplementation of pyridoxine, lysine, and creatine. Previously published manuscripts on therapeutic interventions in GACR are scarce and, due to the rarity of the disease, are mainly case reports or small case series with limited significance. Furthermore, no systemic review of the literature documenting all treatment modalities used in GACR has been published. The aim of this study was therefore to gain knowledge about currently applied treatment modalities for GACR and to provide an overview of published treatment effects.

In order to do so we performed a systematic review of all published international literature reporting therapeutic interventions in GACR patients.

2. Methods

2.1. Search strategy and eligibility criteria

A PRISMA-guided systematic PubMed search strategy was initiated to identify the studies of interest (last searched on December 22nd, 2020; Fig. 3) [12]. We also performed a hand search of bibliographies of included studies. The following MeSH terms were used: *OAT deficiency; Gyrate Atrophy; Therapy; Drug Therapy; Diet Therapy*. A search of PubMed as well as Embase was performed and results were restricted to manuscripts published in peer reviewed journals and performed in humans. Five coauthors (MJNB, BMB, MMB, EAF and CT) independently reviewed the 102 articles that emerged from the searches for potential



Fig. 1. Metabolic pathways involving ornithine.

Glu: glutamate. GSA: glutamate-5-semialdehyde. P5C: Δ1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate. OAT: ornithine aminotransferase. PRODH: proline dehydrogenase. P5CDH: Δ1-pyrroline-carboxylate dehydrogenase. P5CS: Δ1-pyrroline-carboxylate synthase. PYCR1/2: Δ1-pyrroline-carboxylate reductase ½. PYCRL: Δ1-pyrroline-carboxylate reductase-like. CPS: carbamoyl phosphate synthase. ASS1: argininosuccinate synthetase 1. ASL: argininosuccinate lyase. ARG1: arginase. OTC: ornithine transcarbamylase. AGAT: arginine:glycine amidinotransferase. GAMT: guanidinoacetate methyltransferase. ODC: ornithine decarboxylase. Created with BioRender.com

inclusion in review. Studies published in any language other than English were excluded as were articles in abstract form only. Other exclusion criteria were: lack of diagnostic confirmation according to the criteria proposed in Table 1; *in vitro* studies; animal or model organism studies.

2.2. Data extraction and synthesis

Data were extracted independently by five authors (MJNB, BMB, MMB, EAF, and CT) using a standardised form. Discrepancies were resolved by consensus. Terms used in different studies were standardised whenever possible. Pyridoxine responsiveness as described in table 3 was based on the definition the authors of the respective papers assigned to it. When DNA variant notations were not provided, these were deduced based on provided amino acid substitutions, where possible.

2.3. Data quality

All articles included were graded based on the Levels of Evidence for Therapeutic Studies (http://www.cebm.net). This grading system ranks articles based on how valuable the evidence provided is, with 1 being most valuable (systematic review with randomised controls) and 5 the least valuable (expert opinion). Additionally, the quality of articles was assessed. Case studies and case series were assessed according to the tool described by Murad et al. (2017) [13]. Other studies were assessed according to the Study Quality Assessment Tools described by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (https://www.nhlbi. nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools). The articles were graded and assessed by four coauthors (BMB, MJNB, CT, MMB). Discrepancies were resolved by consensus.

3. Results

3.1. Search and quality of evidence

The literature search yielded 102 unique records. 49 records were excluded after screening title and abstract, leaving 53 articles for full-text reading. Of these 53 articles, 21 were excluded. The reasons for exclusion of these 21 articles were lack of diagnostic confirmation of GACR (n = 2); no treatment administered (n = 5); no pre-treatment measurements (n = 3); duplicate reports of patients also described in a more recent paper (n = 5); treatment of complications only (n = 6). One article was added after revision. Finally, 27 case reports, 4 case series, one long-term observational study and one cohort study were included in the analysis.

All included articles were rated on their quality and the validity of their evidence. Most articles were case reports corresponding with a level of evidence of most articles of 4 out of 5. The median score of the quality of articles was 4/8 (range 0/8–8/8). Scores are summarised in Table 2.



Fig. 2. A. Colour fundus photograph of a 55-year-old patient with advanced gyrate atrophy, showing round patches of profound peripheral chorioretinal atrophy. The macula also is profoundly atrophic, except for a small central island of relative sparing of the fovea, explaining the relatively preserved Snellen visual acuity of 20/30. B. Optical coherence tomography scan through the macula, showing relative structural sparing in the foveal area, some mild cystoid macular oedema, and profound chorioretinal thinning and atrophy in the surrounding area.

3.2. Clinical characteristics

In total, 107 individual patients were included, reported in 33 studies (Table 2) [3,14–45]. 43 were male (40%), 51 (48%) were female, and of 13 patients (12%) sex was not reported. Diagnosis of GACR was made based on plasma ornithine levels and the characteristic funduscopic lesions in all patients. Analysis of enzymatic function was performed in 29 patients (30%). Mutation analysis was performed in 41 patients (40%). The median age of the included patients was 17 years (range 2–67). Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004) and Peltola et al. (2000) did not provide individual ages, instead they provided ranges [18,27]. The median age at diagnosis was 13 years (range 11 months - 67 years) and was provided for 47 patients. Nyctalopia (32%, n = 34) and progressive vision loss (32%, n = 34) were the most commonly described primary presentations. Other symptoms included central scotoma, sudden vision loss, photophobia, restriction of peripheral visual fields, astigmatism, and



Fig. 3. PRISMA flow diagram depicting the process of inclusion of articles in this systematic review.

cataract. Nine out of 97 patients had neurological symptoms, ranging from mild muscle weakness to neurodevelopmental delay or epilepsy [14,16,17,28,29,31,33,37]. Rigante et al. (2010) presented a 4 year old patient with neurodevelopmental delay and severely reduced vision as primary presentation. She was diagnosed with GACR, however, neurological imaging also showed porencephaly, making it unclear which part of the visual impairment can be attributed to porencephaly and which to GACR [28].

In 56 patients, the initial clinical or biochemical presentation was not reported. Mean plasma ornithine at initial presentation was 823.0 μ mol/L (range 370–1480 μ mol/L), normal values for adults being 27–98 μ mol/L.

3.3. Genotypes

In 68 GACR patients molecular analysis was performed (see table 3). Bi-allelic pathogenic variants were provided for 36 patients. Twelve patients were homozygous for variants in *OAT*, whereas the remaining patients were compound heterozygous. 5 patients described by Peltola et al. (2000) were said to have a "typical Finnish mutation" without further elaboration [27]. For 27 patients described by Kaiser-Kupfer et al., mutation analysis was only briefly mentioned in the discussion [18]. Thirty-two different pathogenic variants were reported, including 19 missense mutations [3,15,17,21,22,24,25,29,36,40,45], three nonsense mutations [20,24,26], five frameshift mutations [15,17,20,45], one deletion [37], one splicing defect [15], one unknown variant causing exon 5 skipping [22], one intronic variant with an unclear effect [21], and one translation initiation defect [17].

Of the 68 patients in whom molecular analysis was performed, 12 were reported as being pyridoxine-responsive [3,15,22,24,40,45]. These patients had missense, frameshift and nonsense variants, as well as a splicing defect and exon 5 skipping. In six patients, pyridoxine-

Table 1

Inclusion criteria for the diagnosis of gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina.

Typical chorioretinal degeneration on fundus examination

Hyperornithinaemia (ornithine serum levels more than twice the reference value) Enzymatic analysis of residual OAT function in fibroblasts

Mutation analysis of OAT

In the absence of mutation analysis of OAT in combination with enzymatic analysis, criteria in bold were used as minimal requirements for patients included in this review.

responsiveness was unclear due to concurrent start of several treatment modalities [21,26,37,45]. Six patients were classified as pyridoxineunresponsive by the authors [17,20,25,29,45]. In 17 patients, responsiveness was not tested or reported [17,20,27,36,45].

3.4. Treatment

Treatment was administered to 85 patients. The remaining 22 patients functioned as untreated controls. Seven patients had compliance issues or were lost to follow-up. The median duration of reported treatment was 1.25 years (range 7 days-26 years). The median duration of treatment with a natural protein-restricted diet was 1.25 years (range 1 month to 26 years), whereas patients treated with pyridoxine had a median treatment duration of 1.25 years (range 1 month to 7.1 years). Patients treated with pyridoxine monotherapy had a median treatment duration of 1.25 years (range 1 month to 18 years).

3.4.1. Outcome measures

The selected articles reported different biochemical and clinical outcome measures to assess treatment effect. Most papers provided plasma ornithine levels in order to monitor short-term biochemical treatment effect and compliance. Clinical response was measured using varying structural and functional ophthalmic parameters which are summarised in Tables 5 and 6. Best corrected visual acuity and funduscopic imaging were usually provided as ophthalmic outcome parameters. 16 out of 32 papers reported no side-effects as reported by patients [3,19,21,24,27,28,31–33,35,38,41–44]. One paper reported a symptomatic hyperammonaemia as a result of an acquired urea cycle disorder caused by severe arginine deficiency [23]. Other papers did not evaluate side-effects or safety of treatment. A minimal clinical important difference (MCID) to evaluate treatment effect was never pre-defined.

3.4.2. Protein-restricted diet

Of the 85 treated patients, 64 patients (75%) were prescribed a natural protein- or arginine-restricted diet with the goal of reducing ornithine levels (Table 4) [14,15,17–21,23,25,26,28,29,31–39,41,43,45]. In 9 papers, a dietary natural protein content in grams per kilograms per day was provided, with a mean protein content of 0.6 g/kg/day [14,15,17,23,26,29,33,37,39]. In five papers, a total protein content in grams per day was provided (range 10–35 g/day) [19,31,32,35,43]. In eight papers, the addition of essential amino acids (EEA) to the protein-restricted diet was mentioned [14,17,19,23,26,31,34,35].

Of these 64 patients, 50% received additional therapy, either pyridoxine supplementation or supplementation of creatine, lysine, or creatine precursors [15,21,23,25,26,28,31,32,34,35,37–39,43,45]. Median follow-up time was 1.25 years (range 1 month to 26 years). In 28 of 64 patients a decrease in plasma ornithine was witnessed (mean 911 to 398 µmol/L) [14,15,17,20,21,23,26,28,29,31,33–35,37,39,41,43]. In 15 out of 64 patients, a follow-up plasma ornithine level was not provided [25,32,36,38,45]. Of 18 patients no ornithine values were provided [18,19]. In three papers, the authors presented two patients on a protein-restricted diet but only provided ornithine values for one [23,26,39]. Of the 28 patients with a decrease in ornithine, 15 (54%) received additional therapy [14,15,17,21,25,26,28,31,34,35,37,39,43].

Fig. 4 shows the decrease in plasma ornithine levels in patients with a protein-restricted diet and patients with combination treatment. All degrees of protein restriction had an effect on ornithine levels varying from a decrease of 16.0% to 91.2% in patients on monotherapy (natural protein-restricted diet) and 4.5% to 78.3% in patients that received combination therapy. In 11 patients on a protein-restricted diet, serial best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) measurements were provided [15,17,19,20,23,25,36,41,43]. In 5 of these patients, an improvement in BCVA after initiation of treatment was reported with a treatment duration of 2 months to 7 years [15,17,19,36]. However, the patient described by Çavdarli et al. (2020) did not adhere to diet and

Table 2

Level of evidence of all included studies and demographic data.

Reference	Type of article	Level of evidence	Quality assessment	No. of patients	Patient	Patient age
					SEX (II)	(y, III)
H. D. Bakker et al. (1991)	Case report	4	5.5/8 ^a	1	Female	12
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991)	Case series	4	5/8 ^a	12	Male (6), female (6)	Range (8y6m-61)
A. Javadzadeh et al. (2007)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	1	Male	28
R. Christopher et al. (1999)	Case report	4	2/8 ^a	2	Male (2)	40, 47
X. Cui et al. (2018)	Case report	4	5/8 ^a	1	Female	67
G. Casalino et al. (2018)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	1	Male	8
D. Heller et al. (2017)	Case report	4	7/8 ^a	2	Male (1), female (1)	16, 28
M. I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004)	Long-term observational study	4	6/10 ^b	27	Male (11), female (16)	Range(10-74)
F.Tanzer et al. (2011)	Case report	5	3.5/8 ^a	1	Female	8
Y. Mashima et al. (1999)	Case series	4	0/8 ^a	4	Female (4)	Not reported
M. Michel et al. (2015)	Case report	4	3.5/8 ^a	2	Male (1), female (1)	5, 16
Y.R. Sharma et al. (2006)	Case report	4	2/8 ^a	1	Male	28
R. Santinelli et al. (2004)	Case report	4	5/8 ^a	1	Female	30
M. Zekušić et al. (2017)	Case report	4	6/8 ^a	1	Female	10
S. Katagiri et al. (2014)	Case report	4	6/8 ^a	2	Male (2)	2,6
D. Rigante et al. (2010)	Case report	4	1/8 ^a	1	Female	4
K. Peltola et al. (2000)	Case series	4	6/8 ^a	5	Male (5)	Range (16–45)
J. Michaud et al. (1995)	Case report	4	8/8 ^a	1	Female	7
Y. Ohkubo et al. (2005)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	1	Male	37
S. Doguizi et al. (2015)	Case report	4	2/8 ^a	1	Male	9
S. Hayasaka et al. (1985)	Case reports	4	4.5/8 ^a	5	Male (4), female (1)	Range (5-32)
R. Feldman et al. (1989)	Case report	4	3.5/8 ^a	1	Female	26
S.P. Shrestha et al. (2010)	Case report	4	3.5/8 ^a	2	Female (2)	15, 18
S.J. Kim et al. (2013)	Case report	4	2.5/8 ^a	2	Female (2)	19
D. Valle et al. (1980)	Case report	4	6.5/8 ^a	1	Female	35
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer (1980)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	1	Female	36
I. Zhioua Braham et al. (2018)	Case report	4	1/8 ^a	2	Female (2)	26, 30
V.E. Shih et al. (1981)	Cohort study	4	5/8 ^a	5	Female (3), male (2)	Range (13-30)
O.N. Elpeleg et al. (2001)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	3	NR	Range (13–19)
R.R. McInnes et al. (1980)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	2	Male (2)	17, 30
G. Stoppoloni et al. (1982)	Case report	4	4/8 ^a	1	Female	3
C. Çavdarli et al. (2019)	Case report	4	5/8 ^a	1	Male	26
M. Doimo et al (2013)	Case series	4		10	NR	Range (3-40)

Levels of evidence (source www.cebm.net): 1a. Systematic review of randomised controlled trials (RCTs), 1b. Individual RCT, 1c. All or none. 2a. Systematic review of cohort studies, 2b. Individual cohort study, 2c. "Outcomes" research, 3. Systematic review of case-control studies, 4.Individual case-control study or case-series/report, 4/5. Single case report, 5. Expert opinion without critical appraisal.

^a Study Quality Assessment Tool for case reports as adapted from Murad et al¹

^b Study Quality Assessment Tools for case series, cohort studies, and observational studies (source: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools):

concurrently received symptomatic local treatment for macular oedema, making it unlikely that this improve in BCVA is related to the protein-restricted diet [36]. The two patients described by Heller et al. (2017) reported improvement in BCVA after 4 months of a proteinrestricted diet and pyridoxine supplementation. The authors attribute BCVA improvement to regression of cystoid macular oedema [15]. Other ophthalmic examination data are summarised in Tables 5 and 6.

Compliance was usually monitored *via* self-reporting and the trend of plasma ornithine levels. Of the 58 patients on a protein-restricted diet, eight patients could not adhere to dietary restrictions (age range 8–60 years).

Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991) reported a possible beneficial effect of early initiation of an arginine-restricted diet in two sibling pairs, where the younger sibling that started earlier with a protein-restricted diet showed less severe chorioretinal atrophy compared to the older sibling at a similar age [17]. Two of these pairs were followed up until 2002, which expanded the results of their study from 1991, showing that the younger sibling had experienced slower disease progression [50]. A long-term follow-up of 14 years of 27 GACR patients, of which 10 did not adhere to an arginine-restricted diet, showed that progression of disease as measured through electroretinography was slower in patients that adhered to the diet, compared to patients that did not [18].

Doimo et al. (2013) only briefly mentioned dietary treatment, therefore it is unclear to which extent and how long patients were treated [45].

3.4.3. Pyridoxine supplementation

42 patients received therapeutic pyridoxine, a precursor of pyridoxal phosphate which is a cofactor to OAT, with the aim of stimulating

residual enzyme activity (Table 4) [3,14-17,21,22,24-26,28,30-32, 37-40,43-45]. The mean dosage was 405 mg/day (range 100-1000 mg/day). Of these 42 patients, 33 patients (79%) received additional therapy [14,15,17,21,22,25,26,28,31,32,34,37-39,43-45]. 31 patients received a protein-restricted diet next to their treatment with pyridoxine, of which four received triple therapy with addition of creatine (n =2) [26], lysine (n = 1) [37], or α -aminoisobutyric acid (AIB) (n = 1)1) [43]. Two patients received proline supplementation as an addition to their treatment with pyridoxine [44]. Nine patients divided over seven articles received pyridoxine monotherapy. These patients showed a decrease in plasma ornithine ranging from 19.2% to 68.8% [3,16,22,24,30,40,44]. In seven patients, no clinical features were described. Michaud et al. (1995) showed that after two years on pyridoxine, the funduscopic lesions of their patient were unchanged, although her BCVA had fallen [24]. One patient described by Hayasaka et al. (1985) showed a decrease of plasma ornithine without an effect on clinical parameters [44]. No pyridoxine-unresponsive patients on monotherapy were reported. Fig. 5 shows the decrease in ornithine levels of the aforementioned nine patients responsive to pyridoxine on pyridoxine monotherapy.

Of 12 out of the 32 aforementioned patients, serial BCVA measurements were provided [15,21,24,25,30,40,43,44]. In four patients, an improvement in BCVA could be seen 4 months to 5 years after initiation of treatment [15,44]. However, all these patients received additional therapy, either proline [44] or a protein-restricted diet [15]. Other ophthalmic investigations are summarised in Tables 5 and 6.

Several *OAT* variants are reported as pyridoxine responsive (see table 3). Mashima et al. (1999) presented four patients with a p.

able 3	atient characte
Ta	Pai

	cs.
	ŝti
	ij
	Ğ
	Ľa
	ha
•	t
5	SU

Reference	Primary presentation	Other symptoms or diagnoses	Method of diagnosis	<i>OAT</i> variants Allele 1	<i>OAT</i> variants Allele 2	Pyridoxine responsive ^a	Plasma ornithine (µmol/L) at primary presentation
H. D. Bakker et al. (1991)	PVL, nyctalopia, photophobia	Epilepsy	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	No	1150
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991)	BCE (n = 2), myopia, nyctalopia, CPVF, PVL	Keratosis pilaris atrophicans Diminished muscle mass	AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	c.278G > T (p.(Cys93Phe)) c.163 T > C (p.(Tyr55His)) c.215-3048del (p.(His53fs (-1))) c.031del (p.(Asn334fs (-1))) c.1031del (p.(Asn334fs (-1)))	7 7 2.2722C > T (p.(Phe241Leu)) 7 c.215-3048del (p.(His53fs (-1))) c.1031del (p.(Asn334fs (-1))) c.11A > C (translation initiation defect)	Ŷ	764–1180
A. Javadzadeh et al. (2007)	PVL, nyctalopia	Muscle weakness	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	Yes	629
R. Christopher et al. (1999)	Myopia, PVL, CPVF, nyctalopia, BCE	NR	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	Yes	1008
X. Cui et al. (2018)	PVL, CPVF, nyctalopia, BCE	NR	AA, MA, fundoscony	c.473A > C (p.(Tyr158Ser))	c.473A > C (p.(Tyr158Ser))	Yes	586
G. Casalino et al. (2018)	Difficulty reading	Failure to thrive	AA, MA, fiindosconv	c.1307 T > A (p.(lle436Asn))	p.1307 T > A (n.(Ile436Asn))	No	528
D. Heller et al. (2017)	1: Nyctalopia, VI 2: PVL	NR	AA, MA	c.159delC (p. (His53Glnfs7*)) 2: c.800C > T (n (Thr/57IE1)	(p. (His53Ghfs7*)) (p. (His53Ghfs7*)) c.900 + 1G > A (splicing defert)	Unclear	697 879
M. I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
F. Tanzer et al. (2011) Y. Mashima et al. (1999)	PVL, nyctalopia NR	NR NR	AA, fundoscopy AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	NR c.952G > A (p.(Glu318Lys)) c.952G > A (p.(Glu318Lys)) c.952G > A (p.(Glu318Lys))	NR c.952G > A (p.(Glu318Lys)) c.521-2A > G (exon 5 skipping) ? (?)	Yes Yes	955 NR
M. Michel et al. (2015)	Myopia, astigmatism	Short stature	AA, MA, fundoscopv	c.498C > A (p.(Thr166*))	c.498C > A (p.(Thr166*))	Unclear	877
Y.R. Sharma et al. (2006)	CPVF, central scotoma	NR	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	Yes	780
R. Santinelli et al. (2004)	NR	Delayed psychomotor and language development, speech defects, hyperactivity, distractibility, short attention span	AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	c.271G > A (p.(Gly91Arg))	c.271G > A (p.(Gly91Arg))	No	1189 ± 105
M. Zekušić et al. (2017)	PVL, strabismus	Attention deficit	AA, MA, fundosconv	c.868_870delCTT (n.(1eu290del))	c.868_870delCTT (n.(1.eu.290del))	Unclear	1039
S. Katagiri et al. (2014)	Nyctalopia	NR	AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	c.504_505delAA (b.(Lvs169Aspfs*11))	c.1276C > T (p.(Arg426*))	1: No 2: NR	1041 952
D. Rigante et al. (2010)	VI, nystagmus, esotropia	Neurodevelopmental delay	AA, fundoscopy, MRI	NR	NR	No	536
K. Peltola et al. (2000)	NR	NR	AA, MA, fundoscony	"typical Finnish mutation"	2	NR	NR
J. Michaud et al. (1995)	VI	NR	AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	c.677C > T (p.(Ala226Val))	c.1192C > T (p.(Arg398*))	Yes	652
Y. Ohkubo et al. (2005)	PVL	NR	AA, EA, MA, fundoscopy	c.710G > A (p.(Gly237Asp))	c.710G > A (p.(Gly237Asp))	Yes	1140
S. Doguizi et al. (2015) S. Hayasaka et al. (1985)	Low visual acuity NR	NR NR	AA, fundoscopy AA, fundoscopy	NR NR	NR NR	NA 1, 4, 5: Unknown 2: No	622 739 980

						3: Yes	524 984 853
R. Feldman et al. (1989)	TAd	NR	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	NR	818
S.P. Shrestha et al.	Frequent change of glasses	Petit mal epilepsy	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	Yes	741 462
S.J. Kim et al. (2013)	PVL, nyctalopia	NR	AA, MA, fiindosconv	c.425G > A (p.(Gly142Glu))	c.199 + 11_199dupAATTAA	Unclear	783 831
D. Valle et al. (1980)	PVL, nyctalopia	NR	AA, EA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	No	964
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer (1980)	NR	NR	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	No	964
I. Zhioua Braham et al. (2018)	PVL, pseudophakia	NR	AA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	Unclear	723
V.E. Shih et al. (1981)	NR	1: Muscle weakness 2. Minor motor saizures	AA, EA, fiindoscony	NR	NR	1–4: no 5: ves	76-1106
O.N. Elpeleg et al. (2001)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	No	662-1040
R.R. McInnes et al. (1980)	1: Myopia, BCE 2: PVI., nvctalonia	1: Elevated intraocular pressure	AA, EA, fundoscopy	NR	NR	No	750-1000
G. Stoppoloni et al.	NR	Mild developmental delay	AA, EA, fiindosconv	NR	NR	<i>In vitro</i> no, <i>in vivo</i> unclear	744.9
C. Çavdarli et al. (2019)	TAd	NR	AA, MA,	c.1253 T > C	c.1253 T > C	NR	379
M. Doimo et al. (2013)	PVL, nyctalopia	٣	fundoscopy AA, MA		<pre>(p.(Leu418Pro)) c.994G > A (p.(Val332Met)) c.994G > A (p.(Val332Met)) c.1181G > A (p.(Cys394Tyr)) c.1181G > A (p.(Cys394Tyr)) c.1181G > A (p.(Cys394Tyr)) c.991C > T (p.(Arg331*)) c.991C > T (p.(Arg331*)) c.991C > T (p.(Hag36Asn)) c.1307 T > A (p.(Ile436Asn)) c.1307 T > A (p.(Ile437Phe))</pre>	1.2.7: no 3.4: yes 5.6.8: not tested 9: partial reduction of ornithine levels	526-982
NR = not reported; NA = r PVL = progressive visual lo AA = amino acid profile, E ^A a: As determined by the aut	tot applicable: SD-OCT = spectral ss, VI = visual impairment, CPVF = A = enzymatic analysis, MA = mu thors of the referenced articles.	domain optical coherence tomography; MRI = constriction of the peripheral visual fields, tration analysis.	(B)CE = (bilateral) c	ze imaging. ataract extraction.			

Table 4 Treatment and the	rapy outcor	ne.									
Reference	Age at start therapy (Yrs)	Type of therapy	Protein content restricted diet	Pyridoxine	Other supplements	Duration of therapy	Side effects	Treatment stopped/adjusted prematurely	Ornithine level: before treatment	Ornithine level: after treatment	Other outcomes
H. D. Bakker et al. (1991)	12	ARD Pyridoxine	0.2 g/kg/day	1 g/day	EEA: 0.5 g/kg/day	4.5 months	NR	After 3 months protein intake to 1.2 g/kg/day, due to compliancy issues	1150 µmol/L	352 µmol/L	NR
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991)	Range (11) m-4,5y) $(n = 2)$	PRD Pyridoxine	0.5 g/kg/day	400 mg/day, lowered to 200 mg/day	EEA: 0.3–0.5 g/kg/day	85 months	NR	No	886 µmol/L 1180 µmol/L	313 µmol/L 251 µmol/L	NR
	Range $(2-8)$ $(n=2)$	PRD	0.5 g/kg/day	NA	EEA: 0.3–0.5 g/kg/day	67 months	NR	No	818 µmol/L 971 µmol/L	121 µmol/L 106 µmol/L	NR
A. Javadzadeh et al. (2007)	28	Pyridoxine	NA	300 mg/day	NA	6 months	NR	No	629 nmol/mL	293 nmol/mL	NA
R. Christopher et al. (1999)	1: 47 2: 40	PRD Pyridoxine	1: already low protein intake 2: 0.2 g/kg/day	100 mg/day	NA	6 months	NR	Patient 2 was lost in follow up	Patient 1: 1008 µumol/L. Patient 2: 1856 µmol/L	Patient 1: 496 µmol/ Patient 2: Lost in follow un	1: Lysine and glutamate concentrations had increased after 6 months of therapy
X. Cui et al.	67	Pyridoxine	NA	400 mg/day	NA	2 years	NR	No	586 µmol/L	445 µmol/L	NA
G. Casalino et al. (2018)	8	ARD Pyridoxine	NR	500 mg/day	NA	3 years	NR	No	582 µmol/L	No decrease	After 18 months: chorioretinal atrophy had not progressed. Resolution of CME after 3 months
D. Heller et al. (2017)	1: 28 2: 16	PRD Pyridoxine	≤0.8 g/kg/day	500 mg/day	NA	3 months	NR	Patient 1 was unable to adhere to treatment	1: 697 µmol/L 2: 879 µmol/L	1: 450 µmol/L 2: 739 µmol/L	After 3 months: 1: marked improvement in CME 2: decreased central macular thickness
M. I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004)	NR	ARD	NR	NA	NA	Mean follow-up 13.9 years	NR	NR	NR	Diet group: 338 µmol/L Control group: 702 µmol/L	NR
F.Tanzer et al. (2011)	8	Pyridoxine and/or PRD	NR	500 mg/day	NA	1 month	NR	Difficulty in adherence to low-protein diet	955 µmol/L	375 µmol/L	>50% reduction of urinary ornithine excretion
Y. Mashima et al. (1999)	NR	Pyridoxine	NA	600-750 mg/day	NA	NR	NR	Patient 4 did not receive pyridoxine	640 µmol/L 570 µmol/L 770 µmol/L	340 µmol/L 250 µmol/L 340 µmol/L	Normalisation of lysine with treatment
M. Michel et al. (2015)	16	PRD, pyridoxine, creatine, dorzolamid eye drops	0.5 g/kg/day	300 mg/day	EEA: 12,5 g/day Creatine: 12 g/day in 3 doses	250-300 days	NR	NR	877 µmol/L	<500 /Tumol/L	NR
	5	PRD, pyridoxine, creatine	NR	NR	NR	250-300	NR	NR	>800	<500	NR
Y.R. Sharma	28	Pyridoxine	NA	300 mg/day	NA	udys 12 weeks	NR	Patient denied	µплот/L 370 µmol/L	рипол/L 214 µmol/L	NR
et al. (2000) R. Santinelli et al. (2004)	4	PRD	0.8 g/kg/day	NA	NA	26 years	NR	arginnre-resurcted diet No	1189 µmol/L	469–742 µmol/L	NR
M. Zekušić et al. (2017)	Уе-9	PRD, pyridoxine, L-lysine, systemic corticosteroids,	Phase 1: no restriction	Phase 1: pyridoxine	Phase 3: Addition of	Phase 1: 3.5	NR	No	1039 µmol/L	Phase 1: 907 µmol/L	After phase 3: positive change in ERG, significant

		topical carbonic anhydrase inhibitors	Phase 2: 1 g/kg/day Phase 3: 0.6 g/kg/day	500 mg/day Phase 2: pyridoxine to 200 mg/day	L-Iysine 12 g/day	months Phase 2: 2.4 years Phase 3: 7.5				Phase 2: 537 µmol/L Phase 3: 489 µmol/L	improvement of central macular oedema
ri et al.	1: 6 2: 2	ARD	NR	NA	NA	months 16 years	NR	No	1: 1041 µmol/L 2: 952	1: 525 µmol/L 2: ~800	NR
te et al.)	4	ARD Pyridoxine	NR	300 mg/day	NA	6 months	No	No	µmol/L 536 µmol/L	µmol/L 512 µmol/L	Unclear how much of the visual loss is due to GA or due to
a et al.	Range (16–45)	Lysine	NA	NA	2 g 5× daily	1 week	No	2 patients stopped after day 1, reason not mentioned	910–2067 µmol/L, mean 1480	34% decrease of plasma	porencepnary 775% decrease of urinary ornithine (20-2767%)
id et al.	5	Pyridoxine	NA	500 mg/day	NA	2 years	No	No	µmol/L 652 µmol/L	ornunne 232 µmol/L	NR
oo et al.	19	Pyridoxine	NA	300 mg/day	NA	18 years	No	No	1140 µmol/L	921 µmol/L	NR
zi et al.	6	ARD	NR	NR	NR	2 years	No	No	622 µmol/L	55 µmol/L	NR
aka 1985)	Range (4-32)	Pyridoxine Proline	NR	120–600 mg/day	3-10 g/day	1–5 years	٩	ŶZ	739 µmol/L 980 µmol/L 524 µmol/L 984 µmol/L 853 µmol/L	649 µmol/L 1091 µmol/L 284 µmol/L 942 µmol/L	NK
an et al.)	30	PRD Pyridoxine, lysine, AIB	35 g/day	750 mg/day	Lysine: 1 g/day AIB: 3 g/dav	20 weeks	No	No	818 µmol/L	587 µmol/L	NR
stha (2010)	15, 18	PRD Pyridoxine	25 g/day	160 mg/day	NR	5 years	No	No	741 µmol/L 462 µmol/L	NR	Patient with abnormal EEG does not require antiepileptic medication anymore
et al.)	19	ARD, pyridoxine	NR	300 mg/day	NA	15 months	No	No	1: 783 µmol/L 2: 831 µmol/L	1: 386 µmol/L 2: 408 µmol/L	NR
et al.	35	ARD, AIB	10-20 g/day	NA	EEA: 20 g/day AIB: 5 g/dav	At least 18 months	No	No	964 µmol/L	<426 µmol/L	Normal electromyogram, normal sensory and motor nerve conduction
-Kupfer	35	ARD	10 g/day	NA	EEA: 20 g/day	20 months	No	No	964 µmol/L	176 µmol/L	NR
n et al.	1: 26 2: NR	ARD, pyridoxine	NR	300 mg/day	NA	6 months	No	No	1: 723 µmol/L	NR	NR
et al.	Range (12–30)	ARD $(n = 5)$ Pyridoxine $(n = 1)$	15 g/day	300 mg/day	EEA: 20 g/day	8–55 weeks	No	1: after 8 wk. increase protein content to 20–25 g/day 5: stopped all treatment after discharge	706–1106 µmol/L	153–400 µmol/L	After stopping treatment, plasma omithine in patient 5 rose to 870 µmol/L
leg 2001)	Range (13-19)	Lysine	NA	NA	10–15 g/day	40–55 days	No	No	662–1040 µmol/L	525-724 µmol/L	NR

(continued on next page)

B.M.

Balfoort, M.J.N.	Buijs, A.L.M.A	A. ten A	sbroek et	al.
Other outcomes	NR	NR	NR	Plasma ornithine levels could be normalised by diet alone
Ornithine level: after treatment	1: 247 µmol/L 2: 30–120 µmol/L	744.9 µmol/L	NR	NR
Ornithine level: before treatment	1: 1000 µmol/L 2: 750–1000 µmol/L	1180.9 µmol/L	379 µmol/L	526-982
Treatment stopped/adjusted prematurely	No	No	Patient did not adhere to diet	NR
Side effects	2: Episode of hyperammonaemia which resolved after i. v. arginine	No	No	NR
Duration of therapy	1: 6 months 2: 5 weeks	6 year 3 months	2 months	NR
Other supplements	EEA 2: 125 mg arginine/day	NA	NA	NA
Pyridoxine	NA	NA	NR	NR
Protein content restricted diet	1 g/kg/day	0.8 g/kg/day	NR	NR SC
Type of therapy	PRD, arginine	PRD	ARD Topical brinzolamide 1% nepafenac 0.1%	Pyridoxine Diet
Age at start therapy (Yrs)	1: 39 2: 17	3y9m	26	Range (3-40)
Reference	R.R. McInnes et al. (1980)	G. Stoppoloni et al. (1982)	C. Çavdarli et al. (2019)	M. Doimo et al. (2013)

Molecular Genetics and Metabolism 134 (2021) 96-116

(Glu31Lys) variant. Studies with patient fibroblasts homozygous for the p.(Glu318Lys) variant or compound heterozygous a p.(Glu318Lys) variant and one that causes exon 5 skipping showed an increase of OAT activity in the presence of pyridoxal phosphate. Three patients received *in vitro* treatment with pyridoxine and showed a decrease of more than 50% in plasma ornithine [22]. Michaud et al. (1995) presented a patient with p.(Ala226Val)/p.(Arg398*) variants, with both *in vivo* and *in vitro* response to pyridoxine supplementation [24]. Ohkubo et al. (2005) presented a patient with a homozygous p.(Gly237Asp) variant whose plasma ornithine levels decreased with 20–30% and stabilised with long-term pyridoxine supplementation [3]. Doimo et al. (2013) presented three patients with different missense mutations that were classified as pyridoxine-responsive [45].

3.4.4. L-lysine supplementation

Ten patients received L-lysine supplementation [27,37,42,43]. Because lysine, cysteine, ornithine and arginine use a common renal transport channel, it is hypothesised that increasing plasma lysine concentrations might compete with ornithine and arginine reabsorption in the kidney. This may induce increased renal loss of ornithine and arginine, consecutively lowering plasma ornithine levels.

This hypothesis was tested by Peltola et al. (2000), who provided five pyridoxine non-responsive patients with L-lysine as part of a pilot study. Supplementation of oral L-lysine for 7 days led to a 34% decrease of plasma ornithine and a 775% increase of urinary excretion of ornithine. These patients were reported to have the "typical Finnish variant" [27]. Elpeleg et al. (2001) repeated this experiment in three patients, treated for 40–55 days. A 21–31% decrease in plasma ornithine was reported. No variants in *OAT* were provided for these patients [42].

3.4.5. Proline supplementation

Five patients described by Hayasaka et al. (1981) received proline as part of therapy. Proline is generated from P5C by the enzyme Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase (PYCR/P5CR). P5C is reduced in GACR due to OAT deficiency. Proline is a highly preferred nutrient substrate for retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), leading to the hypothesis that proline deficiency plays a role in retinal atrophy associated with GACR [46]. One patient reported a subjective improvement of visual function after start of proline supplementation, although it is unclear to which extent. In the other patients, no improvement was reported [44].

3.4.6. Creatine and precursor supplementation

In order to treat secondary creatine deficiency caused by the inhibition of arginine-glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) by high concentrations of ornithine, creatine can be supplied. Two patients described by Michel et al. (2015) received creatine supplementation as adjunct therapy to a protein-restricted diet and pyridoxine therapy. All treatments were started simultaneously and no neurological symptoms were reported, therefore a singular effect of creatine cannot be derived [26].

3.4.7. Combination therapy

Combination therapy was provided in 34 of the 85 treated patients. These 34 patients include patients mentioned earlier in the results section. Combination therapy usually consisted of a protein- or arginine-restricted diet in combination with pyridoxine or another form of supplementation [14,15,17,21,25,26,28,31,32,34,35,37–39,43–45]. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991) compared two affected sibling pairs, one pair that was only on a protein-restricted diet of 0.5 g/kg/day and one pair that received additional pyridoxine supplementation, but found no benefit of the added supplementation on plasma ornithine levels and ophthalmic follow-up [17]. Casalino et al. (2011) described a patient that first received pyridoxine supplementation and was later put on an arginine-restricted diet, who did not exhibit a decrease in plasma ornithine, although there was resolution of central macular oedema despite the lack of specific ocular therapy [25]. The two siblings described by Michel et al. (2015), mentioned earlier in the review, received a low-

Table 5 Structural ophthalr	nological investigation							
Reference			Diagnosis			Follow-up		
	Treatment	Follow-up time	Ophthalmoscopy	Fundus autofluorescence	SD-OCT	Ophthalmoscopy	Fundus autofluorescence	SD-OCT
H. D. Bakker et al. (1991)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	4.5 months	Vitreous detachment OD, cataract ODS, normal anterior segments.	Drusen of optic discs, attenuated retinal vessels, disciform macular lesions, diffuse atrophic changes in both posterior poles, circumferential chorioretinal atrobhv	NR	ИК	NR	ИК
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine	85 months	1: Multiple lesions 2:Not described	NR	NR	1: Minimal progression in both size and pigmentation of a few lesions 2: Solitary atrophic lesion ODS, small depigmented areas	ИК	Х
	Protein-restricted diet	67 months	1: Multiple scatted atrophic and pigmented lesions 2:Not described	NR	NR	1: Minimal progression 2: Diffuse mottling and slight increase in pigmentation, no atrophic chorioretinal lesions	NR	NR
A. Javadzadeh et al. (2007)	Pyridoxine	6 months	Sharply demarcated areas of choroid and retinal atrophy in gyrate shape involving the midperiphery with the macula not affected. Tilted disc OD. Posterior subcapsular cataracts	Slight leakage from the margins of the choriocapillaris neighbouring the atrophic area. Normal posterior pole.	NR	NR	NR	Я
R. Christopher et al. (1999)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine	6 months	 Circular areas of complete chorioretinal atrophy Circular areas of chorioretinal degeneration. Posterior subcapsular cataracts ODS 	NR	NR	Unchanged	NR	NR
X. Cui et al. (2018)	Pyridoxine	2 years	Preservation of RPE around the macula with distinct borders. Preservation of RPE islands in the periphery. Very distinct borders.	Bilateral sharply demarcated RPE atrophy that encroached from the periphery and surrounds the central macula.	Extensive choroidal sclerosis and degeneration in the areas of RPE atrophy	Unchanged	Minimal disease progression	Spared RPE around the central macular with paramacular areas of RPE atrophy. Individual larger choroidal vessels from Sattler's and Haller's layers in areas of RPE atrophy
G. Casalino et al. (2018)	. Arginine-restricted diet Pvridoxine	3 years	Patches of circumferential chorioretinal atrophy in the peripheral retina of both eves	NR	Bilateral foveal-involving CME	NR	NR	Small fluctuations of residual intraretinal cysts with good foveal contour
D. Heller et al. (2017)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine	3 months	 Bilateral posterior subcapsular cataracts, bilateral sharply demarcated circular areas of chorioretinal atrophy involving the mid-periphery. Blunted foveal reflexes midperiphery chorioretinal atrophic leisions, mild posterior subcapsular cataracts 	1: Loss of autofluorescence corresponding to areas of atrophy, hyperautofluorescent ring within the macula. Pinkish-yellow lesions with spots of calcification over both optic discs 2: NR	1: Bilateral severe CME with central macular thickness measurements of 565 µm OD and 565 µm OD and 565 µm OS 2: Macular thickening with flattening of the foveal foveal 403 µm OD and 352 µm OD and	1: Stable 2: NR	1: Stable 2: NR	1: CMT 270 µm OD and 161 µm OS 2: CMT 323 µm OD and 305 µm OS, deepening foveal depression

(continued on next page)

107

Reference			Diagnosis			Follow-up		
	Treatment	Follow-up time	Ophthalmoscopy	Fundus autofluorescence	SD-OCT	Ophthalmoscopy	Fundus autofluorescence	SD-OCT
M. I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004)	Arginine-restricted diet	13.0 years	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
F.Tanzer et al. (2011)	Pyridoxine and/or protein-restricted diet	1 month	Sharply demarcated areas of choroid and retinal atrophy in gyrate shape involving the midperiphery with macular oedema	Leakage from the left fovea, bilateral hyperfluorescence in maculo-temporal area, cystoid macular oedema	NR	NR	NR	NK
Y. Mashima	Pyridoxine	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
M. Michel et al. (2015)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine Creatine	250-300 days	Coalescent chorioretinal atrophic changes in the periphery	NR	Bilateral cystoid oedema	NR	NR	NR
Y.R. Sharma et al. (2006)	Pyridoxine	12 weeks	Bilateral full thickness macular holes with surrounding cuff of fluid along with concentric chorioretinal atrophy with scalloned margins	NR	Full thickness macular holes	Unchanged	NR	Unchanged
R. Santinelli et al. (2004)	Protein-restricted diet	26 years	Many round, sharply defined, whitish areas of choroid atrophy, 0.5-1 disc in diameter, partially pigmented borders	NR	NR	Normal optic disc and peripapillary region, no change of retinal peripheral aspect	NR	NR
M. Zekušić et al. (2017)	Pyridoxine, L-lysine, systemic corticosteroids	3 years	Numerous circular sharply limited atrophic zones in the retina	Bilateral macular oedema	Bilateral macular oedema	NR	NR	Improvement with only discrete oedema of the macula
S. Katagiri et al. (2014)	Arginine-restricted diet	16 years	 Sharply demarcated circular areas of chorioretinal atrophy in the entire peripheral retina in both eyes Retinal degeneration n superior peripheral area of both eyes 	1: Hypofluorescence in the peripheral chorioretinal atrophic areas in both eyes, window defect near the macula 2: NR	1: Slight cystic changes in both macular areas 2: macular thinning	 Posterior expansion of the chorioretinal atrophy posterior expansion of chorioretinal atrophy 	1: Loss of autofluorescence corresponding to chorioretinal atrophic areas 2: loss of autofluorescence in peripheral chorioretinal atrophic areas, ring-shaped hyperautofluorescence	1: Moderate cystoid spaces within the inner nucleus layer, thinning of outer nuclear layer, splitting of inner nuclear layer in temporal area OD 2: moderate cystoid spaces within inner nuclear layer, abnormally thin outer nuclear layer
D. Rigante et al. (2010)	Arginine-restricted diet	6 months	Bilateral large atrophic polycyclic scars associated with pigment accumulation,	NR	NR	Unchanged	around macula NR	NR
K. Peltola et al. (2000)	Pyridoxine Lysine	1 week	mostly in the posterior pole NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
J. Michaud et al. (1995)	Pyridoxine	2 years	Typical GA lesions in the periphery of the retina	NR	NR	Unchanged	NR	NR
Y. Ohkubo et al. (2005)	Pyridoxine	18 years	Large atrophied area OD Retinal detachment OS due to accident	NR	NR	No exacerbation	NR	NR
S. Doguizi et al. (2015)	Arginine-restricted diet	2 years	Multiple bilateral, sharply defined, and scalloped chorioretinal atrophy areas in the midperipheral and peripheral zone	NR	Bilateral cystoid macular oedema	Unchanged	NR	NR
S. Hayasaka et al. (1985)	Pyridoxine (n = 3), proline (n = 4)	Range (2–5 years)	Sharply defined atrophy, cataract Normal ($n = 1$)	NR	ЛК	Increase in yellow-white spots ($n = 1$), witreous opacity due to vitreous haemorrhage ($n = 1$), increase of chorioretinal atrophy ($n = 1$), unchanged ($n = 2$)	NR	NR

ИК	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Я	NR	NR	NR	NR	Regression of ICs, CMT 397 µm OD 411 µm OS	NR
NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Expansion of chorioretinal atrophy	Unchanged atrophic lesions but development of significant posterior subcapsular cataract ODS	 No progression of chorioretinal atrophy No progression of chorioretinal atrophy 	No progression of chorioretinal atrophy	NR	NR	1: No retinal changes observed 2: NR	No effect	NR	Unchanged	No progression of lesions	NR	NR
NR	NR	1: Disclosed cystoid macular oedema ODS 2: Similar	NR	NR	NR	1: Increased central macular thickness 398 µm OD 355 µm OS, suggestion of foveoschisis 2: Normal OD, macular Dseudohole OS	NR	NR	NR	NR	Bilateral IC-like cystoid macular oedema, CMT 540 µm OD 528	NR
N	NR	1: Leakage at the margin of chorioretinal atrophy and dye accumulation in maculae of both eyes 2: Similar	NR	NR	Minor transmittance of choroidal fluorescence	1: Decreased autofluorescence that correlated with atrophic areas, no leak	NR	NR	NR	NR	Peripheral and midperipheral window defects	NR
Scalloped areas of chorioretinal atrophy, attenuated retinal arteries, cystoid macula oedema and epiretinal membranes, mild posterior subcapsular cataracts, calcific degeneration, posterior vitreous detachments, shrinkage of vitreous gel, round opacities, vale patchy opocification of the bosterior vitreous face	Confluent arcuate equatorial full-thickness lesions of the choroid and retina, separated by thin margins of pigment, early posterior subcapsular cataract ODS	 Bilateral posterior subcapsular cataracts, bilateral severe chorioretinal atrophy involving midperiphery Similar 	Characteristic lesions associated with GA	NR	Extensive peripheral retinal lesions of gyrate atrophy with near-normal appearance of the central area of each fundus	1: Multiple bilateral sharply defined chorioretinal atrophy areas in (mid) peripheral retina 2: Multiple, coalescent areas of peripheral chorioretinal atrophy sparing the posterior pole	NK	NR	 Area of atrophy above disc, typical scallops, peripheral geographic areas of choroidal atrophy 2: Area of atrophy above disc, scallops and peripheral geographic areas of choroidal atrophy 	Many areas of chorioretinal atrophy in the meriphery of the fundus	Bilateral posterior subcapsular cataracts, peripheral-midperipheral sharp demarcated circular chorioretinal atrophic areas	NR
5 months	5 years	15 months	18 months	20 months	24 weeks	6 months	8–55 weeks	40-55 davs	5 weeks-6 months	6 years, 3 months	2 months	NR
Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine Lysine and cx-aminoisobutyric acid	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	Arginine-restricted diet α-aminoisobutyric acid	Protein-restricted diet	Arginine-restricted diet	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	Arginine-restricted diet Pvridoxine	Lysine	Protein-restricted diet Arginine	Protein-restricted diet	Arginine-restricted diet Topical brinzolamide 1%	Diet, pyridoxine
R. Feldman et al. (1989)	S.P. Shrestha et al. (2010)	S.J. Kim et al. (2013)	D. Valle et al. (1980)	M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1980)	R.R. McInnes et al. (1981)	I. Zhioua Braham et al. (2018)	V.E. Shih et al. (1981)	O.N. Elpeleg et al. (2001)	R.R. McInnes et al. (1980)	G. Stoppoloni et al. (1982)	C. Çavdarli et al. (2019)	M. Doimo et al. (2013)

 Table 6

 Functional ophthalmological investigation.

Reference	Treatment	Follow-up	Diagnosis			Follow-up			
		time	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram	
H. D. Bakker et al. (1991)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	4.5 months	0.16 OD 0.25 OS	Peripheral defects	Almost absent, small photopic response	NR	NR	NR	
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1991)	supplementation Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	85 months	Patient 1 + 2: NR	Moderate constriction of $25^{\circ}-40^{\circ}$ to a small test object (I4e) but normal to a large test object (V4e)	Reduced amplitudes when compared to controls	Patient 1: 20/32 ODS Patient 2: 20/25 OD 20/32 OS	Unchanged	Unchanged	
	Protein-restricted diet	67 months	Patient 1: 20/60 ODS Patient 2: NR			Patient 1: 20/40 ODS Patient 2: 20/25 OD 20/32 OS		Amplitude reductions in cone-mediated ERG	
A. Javadzadeh	Pyridoxine	6 months	3/10 OD	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
R. Christopher et al. (1999)	Supplementation Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	6 months	NR	1: Goldmann: concentric constriction of visual fields 2: Goldmann: concentric constriction of visual fields	NR	1: Unchanged 2: NR	1: Unchanged 2: NR	NR	
X. Cui et al. (2018)	Pyridoxine supplementation	2 years	20/25 OD 20/50 OS	NR	Diminished scotopic rod-specific and maximal responses	20/40 OD 20/60 OS	NR	NR	
G. Casalino et al. (2018)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	3 years	20/40 ODS	NR	Abolished responses ODS	After 3 months: 20/25 both eyes. BCVA maintained after 3 years	NR	NR	
D. Heller et al. (2017)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	3 months	Patient 1: 6/120 ODS Patient 2: 6/15 OD 6/12	1: Constricted 2: Constricted	NR	1: 6/30 OD 6/12 OS 2: 6/12 OD 6/8.5 OS	1: Stable 2: Stable	NR	
M. I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (2004)	Arginine-restricted diet	13.0 years	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Combined ERG: Diet group: $0.043 \pm 0.012 \log \mu V/y$ Control group: $0.123 \pm 0.025 \log \mu V/y$ Flicker ERG: Diet group: $0.034 \pm 0.019 \log \mu V/y$ Control group: 0.141	
F.Tanzer et al. (2011)	Pyridoxine supplementation and/or protein-restricted	1 month	3/10 ODS	NR	NR	NR	NR	± 0.048 log μv/y NR	
Y. Mashima	Pyridoxine	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
M. Michel et al. (2015)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation Creatine	250–300 days	0.4 OD 0.5 OS	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Y.R. Sharma et al. (2006)	Supplementation Pyridoxine supplementation	12 weeks	20/200 OD 20/120 OS	Goldmann & Humphrey: severe constriction of visual field in both eves	Extinguished responses in both eyes	Unchanged	NR	NR	
R. Santinelli et al. (2004)	Protein-restricted diet	26 years	Normal until 9 years old	Goldmann: contraction of isopters, confirming a loss of peripheral vision	OD: scotopic subnormal, photopic subnormal, flicker 40 μV OS: scotopic normal, photopic normal, flicker 40 μV	After menarche (9Y): 10/20 ODS	Unchanged	Lower than those of normal age-matched subject, remained constant over follow-up period	
M. Zekušić et al. (2017)	Pyridoxine supplementation, L-lysine supplementation, systemic corticosteroids	3 years	NR	NR	Performed, results not reported	NR	NR	"Positive change"	

Table 6 (continued)

Reference	Treatment	Follow-up	Diagnosis			Follow-up		
		time	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram
S. Katagiri et al. (2014)	Arginine-restricted diet	16 years	1: 1.0 ODS 2: 1.0 OD 1.2 OS	1: Constricted visual fields in the I-4 isopters with preserved visual fields of the V-4 isopters in both eyes 2: Constricted visual fields of I-4 and V-4 isopters	1: NR 2: rod, standard-combined, cone, and 30-HZ flicker responses were non-recordable	1: 0.6 ODS 2: 0.7 OD 0.9 OS	1: Constriction of both I-4 and V-4 isopters 2: Constriction of both I-4 and V-4	NR
D. Rigante et al. (2010)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	6 months	Impossible due to age and psychomotor delav	NR	Non-recordable for scotopic and photopic conditions	NR	NR	Unchanged
K. Peltola et al.	Lysine supplementation	1 week	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
J. Michaud et al. (1995)	Pyridoxine supplementation	2 years	20/20 OD 20/40 OS	Normal	No response under scotopic conditions, low potentials with lengthened b-wave under photopic conditions	20/60 ODS	NR	NR
Y. Ohkubo et al. (2005)	Pyridoxine supplementation	18 years	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
S. Doguizi et al. (2015)	Arginine-restricted	2 years	20/80 ODS	NR	NR	Unchanged		
S. Hayasaka et al. (1985)	Pyridoxine (n = 3), proline (n = 4)	Range (2–5 years)	1: 0.3 ODS 2: 0.4 ODS 3: 0.03 OD 0.6 OS 4: 0.1 OD 0.08 OS 5: 0.1 ODS	1: NR 2: <40 degrees 3: <10 degrees 4: 10 degrees 5: <10 degrees	1–3: subnormal 4, 5: extinct	1: 1 ODS 2: blind OD 0.2 OS 3: 0.03 OD 0.06 OS 4: 0.08 OD 0.06 OS 5: 0 1 ODS	1: NR 2: <30 degrees 3: <10 degrees 4: 10 degrees 5: <10 degrees	1–3: almost extinct 4, 5: extinct
R. Feldman et al. (1989)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation Lysine and α-aminoisobutyric acid	5 months	20/200 OD 20/80 OS	Goldmann: visual field restriction	NR	20/400 OD 20/200 OS	NR	NR
S.P. Shrestha et al. (2010)	Protein-restricted diet Pyridoxine	5 years	1: 20/60 ODS 2: 20/60 OD 20/80 OS	Humphrey: constricted	NR	NR	NR	NR
S.J. Kim et al. (2013)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	15 months	1: 20/32 ODS 2: 20/25 OD 20/32 OS	1: Visual field constriction ODS (Goldmann) 2: NB	1: Marked impaired photopic and scotopic responses 2: Similar	1: Unchanged 2: Unchanged	NR	NR
D. Valle et al. (1980)	Arginine-restricted diet α-aminoisobutyric acid	18 months	20/30 OS, less in OD due to intravitreal haemorrhage	2. NK Severely constricted	NR	NR	NR	NR
M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer et al. (1980)	Protein-restricted diet Essential amino acid supplementation	20 months	20/30 OS, "counts fingers at 3 ft" OD	NR	Extinguished	20/200 OD 20/30 OS	Improvement	Improved, measurable rod and conse responses to Ganzfeld stimulation
R.R. McInnes et al. (1981)	Arginine-restricted diet	24 weeks	20/80 OS, hand movements	Constricted OD	NR	20/100 OD, OS stable	Increase in visual field 40'-55'	No effect
I. Zhioua Braham et al. (2018)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine supplementation	6 months	at 45 cm OD 1: 20/32 OD 20/100 OS 2: 20/20 OD 20/32 OS	1, 2: Peripheral alterations	1, 2: Reduced photopic responses, no recordable scotopic response	NR	NR	NR
V.E. Shih et al. (1981)	Arginine-restricted diet Pyridoxine	8–55 weeks	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
O.N. Elpeleg et al. (2001)	supplementation Lysine supplementation	40–55 days	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

(continued on next page)

Table 6 (continued)

Reference	Treatment	Follow-up	Diagnosis			Follow-up			
		time	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram	BCVA	Visual fields	Electroretinogram	
R.R. McInnes et al. (1980)	Protein-restricted diet Arginine	5 weeks-6 months	1: 20/60 OD 20/50 OS 2: 20/300 OD 20/70 OS	1: limited to 20 degrees from fixation 2: not performed	1: B amplitude 14 μV 2: B amplitude 2 mV	1: 20/50 ODS 2: 20/200 OD 20/60 OS	NR	1: B amplitude 2 μV 2: B amplitude 2 mV	
G. Stoppoloni et al. (1982)	Protein-restricted diet	6 years, 3 months	NR	NR	Subnormal findings OD	NR	Slight reduction of visual fields	Normal	
C. Çavdarli et al. (2019)	Arginine-restricted diet Topical brinzolamide 1% nepafenac 0.1%	2 months	20/100 ODS	NR	NR	20/50 OD 20/63 OS	NR	NR	
M. Doimo et al. (2013)	Diet, pyridoxine	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	

BCVA = best corrected visual acuity; OD = oculus dextra, right eye; OS = oculus sinistra, left eye; NR = not reported; NA = not applicable.

protein diet in combination with pyridoxine supplementation and creatine supplementation, which lowered plasma ornithine in both patients. Unfortunately, no extensive ophthalmic follow-up was provided [26]. The patient described by Zekušić et al. (2014) received a proteinrestricted diet combined with pyridoxine supplementation and L-lysine supplementation. Supplementing L-lysine lead to a decrease in plasma ornithine which was associated with a positive change in the patient's electroretinograms [37].

However, in most patients different treatment modalities were initiated at the same time, therefore efficacy of a single modality, as well as added benefit of another modality, could not be assessed.

4. Discussion and conclusions

This is the first systematic review on therapeutic interventions in GACR and therefore provides a unique overview of all administered therapies, as reported in the literature up until December 2020. GACR is a rare disease without evidence-based treatment recommendations. By summarising all therapeutic interventions and effects published regarding GACR patients we created an overview useful for clinicians in daily practice as well as a steppingstone to management guidelines and further research, even though the levels of evidence and quality of individual studies is low.

The low prevalence of GACR explains the large number of case reports, the lack of systematic randomised controlled trials and cohort studies, and the scarcity of high quality data. Furthermore, most studies did not provide predefined outcome measures. Despite GACR being a predominantly ophthalmic condition, a large portion of the papers did not provide any ophthalmic follow-up. Different interventions were often initiated at the same time, making it impossible to attribute a possible beneficiary effect to a single treatment modality. Follow-up regimens varied greatly across all studies.

Due to the lack of knowledge on the exact pathophysiology underlying GACR, all treatment options, with the exception of creatine supplementation, are aimed at decreasing ornithine levels. However, it is questionable whether ornithine is the right target for therapeutic interventions. The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) is a critical barrier between the retina and the systemic circulation, regulating the flux of nutrients and oxygen between the choroid and the subretinal space. It has unique metabolic properties which serve, in a large part, the metabolic needs of the eye [47]. A 2011 review by Hayasaka et al. summarises the known risks of high-dose ornithine supplements for the retina as concluded from both in vitro and animal studies. They describe several in vitro studies where high-dose intravitreal injections of ornithine were toxic to retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells. Additionally, they described an animal study with OAT-deficient mice. The mice on arginine-restricted diets retained better ophthalmic function compared to the mice on normal diets [48]. However, no research has been performed which aims to unravel the broader metabolic consequences of OAT deficiency. Therefore, it is unclear whether plasma ornithine is actually the culprit in the process of chorioretinal atrophy or if there are more, yet unknown, metabolites involved. The only other disorder associated with hyperornithinaemia is hyperornithinaemiahyperammonaemia-homocitrullinuria (HHH) syndrome. Ophthalmic

Plasma ornithine in patients treated with a protein-restricted diet



Fig. 4. Plasma ornithine before and during treatment in patients with a protein-restricted diet. On the left, patients that were only treated with a protein-restricted diet are depicted. On the right, patients with a protein-restricted diet and additional therapy are depicted.



Plasma ornithine in pyridoxine-responsive patients treated with pyridoxine monotherapy (n=9)

Fig. 5. Plasma ornithine levels before and during treatment in patients that received pyridoxine monotherapy and were classified by the authors of the respective papers as being pyridoxine-responsive.

changes are usually not reported in HHH syndrome. Interestingly, Morini et al. reported one patient with genetically confirmed HHH syndrome that developed tapetoretinal degeneration and decreased ocular function [49]. As HHH has a different cause, it is likely that the pathophysiological mechanism is different. Additionally, due to the unique metabolic properties of the retina, it is questionable whether plasma ornithine accurately reflects the retinal status.

The most frequently reported intervention is an arginine-restricted diet, usually executed in the form of a diet generally restrictive in natural protein with arginine-free supplementation of essential amino acids. The degree of protein restriction was often not mentioned, but when reported varied from 0.2-1 g/kg/day. The age at intervention is usually between adolescence and adulthood, because there is often a diagnostic delay due to unawareness of the disease phenotype and late manifestations. Biochemically, ornithine levels dropped during treatment independent of the degree of protein restriction [17–20,29,50]. Ophthalmic follow-up was often not reported. The patient that did receive ophthalmic followup measurements, were often on different treatment modalities at the same time, making it unlikely that possible beneficial effects can solely be attributed to therapy with a protein-restricted diet. Most of these studies did not provide a comparison with untreated controls. Nonetheless, two sibling studies suggest that early intervention favours a better outcome: the earlier a patient started on the protein-restricted diet, the slower the progression of the chorioretinal lesions was [17,50].

Compliance is a significant factor to consider when treating patients with a protein-restricted diet. Our review showed that nine patients with ages ranging from 8 to 60 years were non-compliant to the diet. Indeed, a study of 197 participants with other inborn metabolic diseases (IMDs) requiring a protein-restricted diet reported also variable compliance, with compliance decreasing significantly as age progressed [51]. It is likely that similar patterns exist within the GACR community, especially because there is limited research on the effect of a protein-restricted diet on disease progression and patients will not immediately notice an effect of following or stopping the diet.

Pyridoxine is an additional therapeutic modality used in GACR [43]. In a subgroup of patients with GACR it lowers ornithine levels, although it is as of yet unclear why. Pyridoxine might play a role in stimulating residual enzyme activity, but others propose that it might also have an additional chaperone function, leading to increased enzyme stability and thus improved enzyme function similar to tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) in PKU patients [52,53]. *In vitro* experiments on HEK293 cells with the Val332Met pathogenic variant show that, after catalysis, this variant loses its B6 vitamer and quickly aggregates and unfolds [55]. Increasing concentrations of pyridoxal phosphate, the active form of pyridoxine, helps stabilise the enzyme. Another paper supports the notice of *in vitro* responsiveness of the Val332Met mutation [56]. However, discrepancies between *in vitro* and *in vivo* responsiveness have been reported. In their paper, Doimo et al. (2013) describe two patients that were homozygous for the Val332Met pathogenic variant and that did not respond to pyridoxine [45]. Montioli et al. (2021) argue in their recent review that a lack of consistency between *in vitro* and *in vivo* responses may suggest that pyridoxine has an (added) effect not directly related to OAT activity [1].

Valle et al. (2019) reported that <5% of GACR patients show clear *in vivo* and *in vitro* pyridoxine-responsiveness [54]. Our review shows a much higher responsiveness (30%) of patients carrying specific *OAT* variants. Pyridoxine-responsiveness was defined as a lowering of plasma ornithine levels. The decrease in plasma ornithine in responsive patients on pyridoxine monotherapy ranged from 19.2% to 68.8%. 79% of patients received additional therapy, which was usually started at the same time, making it difficult to estimate whether a decrease in ornithine levels can be attributed to pyridoxine, a natural protein-restricted diet, or the combination of the two. In 33% of patients where serial BCVA was provided an improvement was noted. There was no clear dose responsiveness.

Heller et al. (2017) described two patients that reported an improvement in BCVA and regression of cystoid macular oedema after treatment with a protein-restricted diet in combination with pyridoxine supplementation. These treatments were started concurrently, therefore it is difficult to establish which treatment regimen attributed to the improvement in BCVA [15].

The potential side effect of pyridoxine is a reversible peripheral neuropathy [57]. Interestingly, this is also reported as a possible feature of disease in 21 patients as reported by Peltola et al. (2002). These patients were not treated with pyridoxine, yet had abnormal results on neurography. These abnormalities associated with the severity of ophthalmic symptoms and the age of the patient [58].

Other supplementations, such as lysine and proline, have only been tested in small groups. Although their supplementation makes sense based on our current knowledge of the biochemical pathways involved in GACR, it is important to further investigate the effect that these supplements truly have on clinical symptoms and disease progression.

Lysine is not commonly used in the treatment of other IEMs, although there are some cases where it is used in lysinuric protein intolerance (LPI) in order to correct low lysine levels [59]. A systematic review analysing the side effects of lysine reports little to no side-effects, although mild gastrointestinal complaints have been reported [60].

Proline supplementation has not been commonly reported as a therapeutic modality in IEMs. However, it might play an important role in a variety of biochemical and metabolic processes within the cell [61] and although very little research has been done on the role of proline within the treatment of GACR, it might be an interesting treatment modality. Especially as proline is one of the preferred nutrients of the RPE [46].

Supportive therapy such as intravitreal corticosteroids or intravitreal antivascular endothelial growth factor agents seem to have a good short-term result in the treatment of cystoid macular oedema (CME) [62–66]. This is comparable to the effect these treatments have in cystoid macular oedema in retinitis pigmentosa, another hereditary retinal atrophy [67].

Lastly, although only one patient included in the review received creatine supplementation, it is an important treatment modality to keep in mind. Hyperornithinaemia in GACR leads to an inhibition of arginine-glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT), which can be visualised with MR spectroscopy [68].

Creatine deficiency in primary creatine synthesis disorders leads to symptoms such as intellectual disability, motor impairments, and epilepsy [69]. In patients with GACR neurological abnormalities have been reported in a subset of patients [10,70]. Because GACR is usually considered to be a disease solely affecting the eye, there is no systematic neurological assessment of this this patient group.

Indeed correction of GACR-associated creatine deficiency is a tractable therapeutic target, distinct from the previous therapies as it is not directed at reducing ornithine levels. Heinänen et al. (1999) described five patients with GACR treated with methionine (420–1120 mg/day) and guanidinoacetate (330–880 mg/day), and four patient treated with creatine (1.5–2 g/day). MR spectroscopy showed almost normalised creatine phosphate/inorganic phosphate ratios in the muscles of these patients, when compared to healthy controls [10]. Näntö-Salonen et al. (1999) reported similar results with regards to creatine ratios in the brain in the same nine patients [70]. All patients responded similarly to creatine and creatine precursor supplementation, although some patients had higher doses compared to other patients. Clinical parameters were reported in neither of the two studies.

5. Limitations

Research on therapeutic interventions in GACR is limited and most studies are designed as observational open-label studies and published as case reports. This results in evidence level IV. No large historical cohort data is available, which obstructs comparison to untreated patients. Reasons for the lack of high evidence studies include the extremely small population size inherent to ultra-rare diseases, but also the lack of standardised protocols for treatment and follow-up. Meta-analysis or even comparison of individual case reports is not possible given the clinical and genetic heterogeneity, differences in type and duration of therapy, follow-up as well as outcome measures. Additionally, the patient population is very heterogeneous; clinical manifestations and age of apparent onset vary among individuals even within the same family. Furthermore, pre-analytical (fasting, time of day) as well as analytical differences are important to keep in mind when comparing ornithine levels as measured at different laboratories in different reports.

The lack of knowledge on the natural course of the disease further complicates the interpretation of results. Renner et al. (2012) reported a patient that did not receive any type of treatment during 39 years of life, yet she did exhibit periods of disease stabilisation [71]. Jasani et al. (2018) reported a patient that, despite not adhering to a protein-

restricted diet, reported 18 years of progression-free disease [72]. This emphasises the importance of sibling studies such as performed by Kaiser-Kupfer (1991, 2002, 2004) [17,18,50] but even more the necessity of a physician-driven international patient registry.

The majority of studies had no predetermined ophthalmic outcome measure. Structural diagnostic tools such as funduscopy and optical coherence tomography (OCT) are relevant for diagnosing the characteristic lesions of GACR. With respect to functional tools, best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) and the measurement of visual fields is often used to assess visual function. Although the measures of visual acuity and visual fields are important, they do not convey all aspects of vision, such as dark adaptation and contrast sensitivity [73]. Specifically, they do not assess the degree of loss of rod cells, which is relevant in GACR as nyctalopia is usually one of the primary symptoms. Retinal damage due to GACR is probably not reversible. Improvement after initiating therapy is probably due to a decrease in macular oedema. The importance of standardised ophthalmic measures for follow-up has also been emphasised in retinitis pigmentosa and choroideraemia, two hereditary eye diseases that also display retinal atrophy [74-76].

In conclusion, this review shows that several treatment modalities used in GACR, namely a protein-restricted diet, lysine supplementation, and in a sub-group of patients, pyridoxine, are effective in lowering plasma ornithine. A protein-restricted diet may slow progression of disease. Creatine supplementation may normalise brain and muscle creatine. However, due to the lack of data and evidence, we cannot conclude an effect of therapy on disease progression.

6. Future directions

It is essential to improve GACR (clinical) research and subsequently care for patients with GACR. As this research has shown, the GACR study populations are often small and it is difficult to establish enough power to perform clinical trials. It is important to establish a historical cohort of GACR patients to gain insight in the progression of disease and the associated changes in outcome measures. Historical cohorts can also function as controls if needed in trials with small patient populations [77]. A physician-driven registry can help to develop a historical cohort and evaluate natural disease course. To assess any therapeutic effect it is necessary to obtain disease specific outcome measures amenable to change, as has been done for other degenerative (retinal) disorders [73-76]. Clinical endpoints recommended for other inherited retinal diseases are: BCVA, visual field sensitivity, retinal sensitivity, multiluminance mobility tests, electrophysiological measures such as ERG, OCT, and fundus autofluorescence [74].

Finally, it is needed to further unravel the OAT pathway and establish which substances truly affect OAT function. *In vitro* studies have shown that pyridoxine stimulates residual enzyme activity, however it is not known if there are more compounds that could affect OAT and thus affect plasma ornithine levels. High-throughput assays could help gain insight in the substances that rescue OAT function. To precisely establish the molecular and biochemical and cellular effect of ornithine on the retina and therapeutic testing, human retinal organoids could be used. Furthermore, to fully gain an understanding of the metabolic pathway and the breakdown of ornithine, stable isotopes could be used for *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments.

By obtaining the missing clinical and biochemical links in GACR we might be able to perform intervention studies in GACR patients, eventually leading to the development of new therapeutic regimens that could give a new perspective to this debilitating chronic disorder.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors report no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

Dr. Karolina Stepien, The Mark Holland Metabolic Unit, Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust, Salford, United Kingdom for her advisory role.

Funding

PhD salaries of M.J.N. Buijs and B.M. Balfoort were funded by: Amsterdam Gastroenterology & Metabolism Institute (Amsterdam UMC), Stichting Steun Emma Kinderziekenhuis, Horstingstuit Foundation *via* AMC Foundation, Stichting Metakids.

References

- R. Montioli, I. Bellezza, M.A. Desbats, C. Borri Voltattorni, L. Salviati, B. Cellini, Deficit of human ornithine aminotransferase in gyrate atrophy: molecular, cellular, and clinical aspects, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Proteins Proteomics 2021 (1869) 140555, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2020.140555.
- [2] A. Ginguay, L. Cynober, E. Curis, I. Nicolis, Ornithine aminotransferase, an important Glutamate-Metabolizing enzyme at the crossroads of multiple metabolic pathways, Biology (Basel) 6 (2017) https://doi.org/10.3390/biology6010018.
- [3] Y. Ohkubo, A. Ueta, T. Ito, S. Sumi, M. Yamada, K. Ozawa, H. Togari, Vitamin B6responsive ornithine aminotransferase deficiency with a novel mutation G237D, Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 205 (2005) 335–342, https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.205.335.
- [4] K.E. Peltola, K. Näntö-Salonen, O.J. Heinonen, S. Jääskeläinen, K. Heinänen, O. Simell, E. Nikoskelainen, Ophthalmologic heterogeneity in subjects with gyrate atrophy of choroid and retina harboring the L402P mutation of ornithine aminotransferase, Ophthalmology. 108 (2001) 721–729, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0161-6420(00) 00587-X.
- [5] T. Wang, G. Steel, A.H. Milam, D. Valle, Correction of ornithine accumulation prevents retinal degeneration in a mouse model of gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 1224–1229, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.97.3.1224.
- [6] M. Valtonen, K. Näntö-Salonen, S. Jääskeläinen, K. Heinänen, A. Alanen, O.J. Heinonen, N. Lundbom, M. Erkintalo, O. Simell, Central nervous system involvement in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinaemia, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 22 (1999) 855–866, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005602405349.
- [7] P.I. Sergouniotis, A.E. Davidson, E. Lenassi, S.R. Devery, A.T. Moore, A.R. Webster, Retinal structure, function, and molecular pathologic features in gyrate atrophy, Ophthalmology. 119 (2012) 596–605, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2011.09.017.
- [8] M.G. De Sain-van der Velden, P. Rinaldo, B. Elvers, M. Henderson, J.H. Walter, B.H. Prinsen, N.M. Verhoeven-Duif, T.J. de Koning, P. van Hasselt, The proline/Citrulline ratio as a biomarker for OAT deficiency in early infancy, JIMD Rep. 4 (2012) 113–116, https://doi.org/10.1007/8904.
- [9] V. Valayannopoulos, N. Boddaert, K. Mention, G. Touati, V. Barbier, A. Chabli, F. Sedel, J. Kaplan, J.L. Dufier, D. Seidenwurm, D. Rabier, J.M. Saudubray, P. de Lonlay, Secondary creatine deficiency in ornithine delta-aminotransferase deficiency, Mol. Genet. Metab. 97 (2009) 109–113, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2008.12.010.
- [10] K. Heinänen, K. Näntö-Salonen, M. Komu, M. Erkintalo, A. Alanen, O.J. Heinonen, K. Pulkki, E. Nikoskelainen, I. Sipilä, O. Simell, Creatine corrects muscle 31P spectrum in gyrate atrophy with hyperornithinaemia, Eur. J. Clin. Investig. 29 (1999) 1060–1065, https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2362.1999.00569.x.
- [11] M. Fleury, R. Barbier, F. Ziegler, M. Mohr, O. Caron, H. Dollfus, C. Tranchant, J.M. Warter, Myopathy with tubular aggregates and gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina due to hyperornithinaemia, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 78 (2007) 656–657, https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.101386.
- [12] M.J. Page, J.E. Mckenzie, P.M. Bossuyt, I. Boutron, C. Hoffmann, C.D. Mulrow, L. Shamseer, J.M. Tetzlaff, E.A. Akl, S.E. Brennan, R. Chou, J. Glanville, J.M. Grimshaw, A. Hróbjartsson, M.M. Lalu, T. Li, E.W. Loder, E. Mayo-wilson, S. Mcdonald, L.A. Mcguinness, L.A. Stewart, J. Thomas, A.C. Tricco, V.A. Welch, P. Whiting, D. Moher, RESEARCH METHODS AND REPORTING The PRISMA 2020 statement : an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses, 2021 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71.
- [13] M.H. Murad, S. Sultan, S. Haffar, F. Bazerbachi, Methodological quality and synthesis of case series and case reports, Evid. Based. Med. 23 (2018) 60–63, https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmjebm-2017-110853.
- [14] H.D. Bakker, N.G.G.M. Abeling, M.J. van Schooneveld, R.J.A. Wanders, A.H. van Gennip, A far advanced case of gyrate atrophy in a 12-year-old girl, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 14 (1991) 379–381, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01811708.
- [15] D. Heller, C. Weiner, I. Nasie, Y. Anikster, Y. Landau, T. Koren, R. Pokroy, A. Abulafia, E. Pras, Reversal of cystoid macular edema in gyrate atrophy patients, Ophthalmic Genet. 38 (2017) 549–554, https://doi.org/10.1080/13816810.2017.1301966.
- [16] A. Javadzadeh, D. Gharabaghi, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinemia responsive to vitamin B6: a case report, J. Med. Case Rep. 1 (2007) 6–8, https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-1947-1-27.
- [17] M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer, R.C. Caruso, D. Valle, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: long-term reduction of ornithine slows retinal degeneration, Arch. Ophthalmol. (1991) 773–775.
- [18] M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer, R.C. Caruso, D. Valle, G.F. Reed, Use of an arginine-restricted diet to slow progression of visual loss in patients with gyrate atrophy, Arch. Ophthalmol. 122 (2004) 982–984, https://doi.org/10.1001/archopht.122.7.982.

- [19] M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer, F.M. De Monasterio, D. Valle, M. Walser, S. Brusilow, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: Improved visual function following reduction of plasma ornithine by diet, Science (80-.) 210 (1980) 1128–1131, https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.7444439.
- [20] S. Katagiri, T. Gekka, T. Hayashi, H. Ida, T. Ohashi, Y. Eto, H. Tsuneoka, OAT mutations and clinical features in two Japanese brothers with gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Doc. Ophthalmol. 128 (2014) 137–148, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10633-014-9426-1.
- [21] SJ. Kim, D.H. Lim, J.H. Kim, S.W. Kang, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina diagnosed by ornithine-δ-aminotransferase gene analysis: a case report, Korean J. Ophthalmol. 27 (2013) 388–391, https://doi.org/10.3341/kjo.2013.27.5.388.
- [22] Y. Mashima, R.G. Weleber, N.G. Kennaway, G. Inana, Genotype-phenotype correlation of a pyridoxine-responsive form of gyrate atrophy, Ophthalmic Genet. 20 (1999) 219–224, https://doi.org/10.1076/opge.20.4.219.2271.
- [23] R.R. McInnes, S.A. Arshinoff, L. Bell, C. McCulloch, Treatment of gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with low arginine diet, Trans. Am. Ophthalmol. Soc. 78 (1980) 226–242.
- [24] J. Michaud, G.N. Thompson, L.C. Brody, G. Steel, C. Obie, G. Fontaine, K. Schappert, C.G. Keith, D. Valle, G.A. Mitchell, Pyridoxine-responsive gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: clinical and biochemical correlates of the mutation A226V, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 56 (1995) 616–622.
- [25] G. Casalino, L. Pierro, M.P. Manitto, M. Michaelides, F. Bandello, Resolution of cystoid macular edema following arginine-restricted diet and vitamin B6 supplementation in a case of gyrate atrophy, J. AAPOS. 1 (2011) 1–3, https://doi.org/10.1515/green. 2011.028.
- [26] M. Michel, G. Blatsios, S. Scholl-Bürgi, A. Entenmann, A. Wernstedt, A. Zschocke, K. Pichler, A. Höller, D. Karall, Gyrate atrophy in 2 siblings - ophthalmological findings and a new mutation, Klin. Padiatr. 227 (2015) 296–298, https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1555921.
- [27] K. Peltola, O.J. Heinonen, K. Näntö-Salonen, K. Pulkki, O. Simell, Oral lysine feeding in gyrate atrophy with hyperornithinaemia - a pilot study, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 23 (2000) 305–307, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005638004530.
- [28] D. Rigante, M.C. Savastano, A. Leone, B. Falsini, A. Baldascino, I. La Torraca, D. Lepore, A. De Nisco, E. Sacco, A.M. Minnella, Occipital porencephaly in a child with gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, J. AAPOS. 14 (2010) 462–464, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jaapos.2010.07.011.
- [29] R. Santinelli, C. Costagliola, C. Tolone, A. D'Aloia, A. D'Avanzo, F. Prisco, L. Perrone, E.M. del Giudice, Low-protein diet and progression of retinal degeneration in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: a twenty-six-year follow-up, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 27 (2004) 187–196, https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BOLI.0000028779.29966.05.
- [30] Y.R. Sharma, D.V. Singh, R.V. Azad, N. Pal, Gyrate atrophy with bilateral full thickness macular hole, Eye. 20 (2006) 743–745, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.eye.6702001.
- [31] V.E. Shih, E.L. Berson, M. Gargiulo, Reduction of hyperornithinemia with a low protein, low arginine diet and pyridoxine in patients with a deficiency of ornithineketoacid transaminase (OKT) activity and gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Clin. Chim. Acta 113 (1981) 243–251, https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-8981(81) 90278-3.
- [32] S.P. Shrestha, R. Arora, R. Pradhan, S. Bhatt, First reported cases of gyrate atrophy of the choroid from Nepal, BMJ Case Rep. (2010) 2–5, https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr.04. 2010.2951.
- [33] G. Stoppoloni, F. Prisco, R. Santinelli, G. Sicuranza, E. Rinaldi, Treatment of hyperornithinaemia and gyrate atrophy of choroid and retina with low-protein diet, Lancet (1982) 1981.
- [34] F. Tanzer, M. Firat, M. Alagoz, H. Erdogan, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinemia, cystinuria and lysinuria responsive to vitamin B6, BMJ Case Rep. (2011) 2010–2012, https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr.07.2010.3200.
- [35] D. Valle, M. Walser, S.W. Brusilow, M. Kaiser-Kupfer, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina. Amino acid metabolism and correction of hyperornithinemia with an arginine-deficient diet, J. Clin. Invest. 65 (1980) 371–378, https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI109680.
- [36] C. Çavdarli, E. Şahli, B. Çavdarli, M.N. Alp, Regression of macular edema with topical brinzolamide and nepafenac alone and identification of a novel gyrate atrophy mutation, Arq. Bras. Oftalmol. 83 (2020) 149–152, https://doi.org/10.5935/0004-2749. 20200028.
- [37] M. Zekusic, A. Skaricic, K. Fumic, D. Rogic, T. Zigman, D. Petkovic Ramadza, N. Vukojevic, V. Rúfenacht, V. Uroic, I. Baric, Metabolic follow-up of a Croatian patient with gyrate atrophy and a new mutation in the OAT gene: a case report, Biochem Med. 26 (2014) 396–402.
- [38] I. Zhioua Braham, I. Ammous, R. Maalej, M. Boukari, I. Mili Boussen, K. Errais, R. Zhioua, Multimodal imaging of foveoschisis and macular pseudohole associated with gyrate atrophy: a family report, BMC Ophthalmol. 18 (2018) 1–6, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12886-018-0755-9.
- [39] R. Christopher, S.V.S. Babu, K.T. Shetty, Hyperornithinaemia associated with gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: two cases from India, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 36 (1999) 519–522, https://doi.org/10.1177/000456329903600419.
- [40] X. Cui, R. Jauregui, K.S. Park, S.H. Tsang, Multimodal characterization of a novel mutation causing vitamin B6-responsive gyrate atrophy, Ophthalmic Genet. 176 (2017) 139–148, https://doi.org/10.1080/13816810.2018.1474370.Multimodal.
- [41] S. Doguizi, M.A. Sekeroglu, M.A. Anayol, P. Yilmazbas, Arginine-restricted therapy resistant bilateral macular edema associated with gyrate atrophy, Case Rep. Ophthalmol. Med. 2015 (2015) 1–3, https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/137270.
- [42] O.N. Elpeleg, S.H. Korman, Sustained oral lysine supplementation in ornithine deltaaminotransferase deficiency, 24, 2001 312–316.
- [43] R.B. Feldman, S.S. Mayo, D.M. Robertson, J.D. Jones, J.A. Rostvold, Epiretinal membranes and cystoid macular edema in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Retina (1989) 139–142.

- [44] S. Hayasaka, T. Saito, H. Nakajima, O. Takahashi, K. Mizuno, K. Tada, Clinical trials of vitamin B6 and proline supplementation for gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Br. J. Ophthalmol. 69 (1985) 283–290, https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.69.4.283.
- [45] M. Doimo, M.A. Desbats, M.C. Baldoin, E. Lenzini, G. Basso, E. Murphy, C. Graziano, M. Seri, A. Burlina, G. Sartori, E. Trevisson, L. Salviati, Functional analysis of missense mutations of OAT, causing gyrate atrophy of choroid and retina, Hum. Mutat. 34 (2013) 229–236, https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22233.
- [46] J.R. Chao, K. Knight, A.L. Engel, C. Jankowski, Y. Wang, M.A. Manson, H. Gu, D. Djukovic, D. Raftery, J.B. Hurley, J. Du, Human retinal pigment epithelial cells prefer proline as a nutrient and transport metabolic intermediates to the retinal side, J. Biol. Chem. 292 (2017) 12895–12905, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.788422.
- [47] A. Lakkaraju, A. Umapathy, L.X. Tan, L. Daniele, N.J. Philp, K. Boesze-Battaglia, D.S. Williams, The cell biology of the retinal pigment epithelium, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 78 (2020) 100846, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2020.100846.
- [48] S. Hayasaka, T. Kodama, A. Ohira, Retinal risks of high-dose ornithine supplements: a review, Br. J. Nutr. 106 (2011) 801–811, https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511003291.
- [49] C. Morini, P. Capozzi, S. Boenzi, C. Rizzo, F.M. Santorelli, C. Dionisi-Vici, Retinal degeneration, Ophthalmology. 116 (2009) 7–8, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha. 2009.03.039.
- [50] M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer, R.C. Caruso, D. Valle, Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: further experience with long-term reduction of ornithine levels in children, Arch. Ophthalmol. 120 (2002) 773–775.
- [51] T. Mlcoch, R. Puda, P. Ješina, M. Lhotáková, T. Dolezal Šterbová, Dietary patterns, cost and compliance with low-protein diet of phenylketonuria and other inherited metabolic diseases, Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 72 (2018) 87–92, https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn. 2017.102.
- [52] B. Cellini, R. Montioli, E. Oppici, A. Astegno, C. Borri Voltattorni, The chaperone role of the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate and its implications for rare diseases involving B6dependent enzymes, Clin. Biochem. 47 (2014) 158–165, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinbiochem.2013.11.021.
- [53] A.C. Muntau, D.J. Adams, A. Bélanger-Quintana, T.V. Bushueva, R. Cerone, Y.H. Chien, A. Chiesa, T. Coşkun, J. De Las Heras, F. Feillet, R. Katz, F. Lagler, F. Piazzon, F. Rohr, F.J. van Spronsen, P. Vargas, G. Wilcox, K. Bhattacharya, International best practice for the evaluation of responsiveness to sapropterin dihydrochloride in patients with phenylketonuria, Mol. Genet. Metab. 127 (2019) 1–11, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymgme.2019.04.004.
- [54] D. Valle, O. Simell, The Hyperornithinemias, in: D.L. Valle, S. Antonarakis, A. Ballabio, A.L. Beaudet, G.A. Mitchell (Eds.), Online Metab, Mol. Bases Inherit. Dis, McGraw-Hill Education, New York, NY, 2019 http://ommbid.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid= 1170086867.
- [55] R. Montioli, M.A. Desbats, S. Grottelli, M. Doimo, I. Bellezza, C. Borri Voltattorni, L. Salviati, B. Cellini, Molecular and cellular basis of ornithine δ-aminotransferase deficiency caused by the V332M mutation associated with gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. basis Dis. 1864 (2018) 3629–3638, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.08.032.
- [56] V. Ramesh, A.I. McClatchey, N. Ramesh, L.A. Benoit, E.L. Berson, V.E. Shih, J.F. Gusella, Molecular basis of ornithine aminotransferase deficiency in B-6-responsive and -nonresponsive forms of gyrate atrophy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85 (1988) 3777–3780, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.85.11.3777.
- [57] A. Bendich, M. Cohen, Vitamin B6 Safety Issues, 1986.
- [58] K.E. Peltola, S. Jääskeläinen, O.J. Heinonen, B. Falck, K. Näntö-Salonen, K. Heinänen, O. Simell, Peripheral nervous system in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinemia, Neurology. 59 (2002) 735–740, https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL59.5.735.
- [59] L.M. Tanner, K. Näntö-Salonen, H. Niinikoski, K. Huoponen, O. Simell, Long-term oral lysine supplementation in lysinuric protein intolerance, Metabolism. 56 (2007) 185–189, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2006.09.011.
- [60] K. Hayamizu, I. Oshima, M. Nakano, Comprehensive safety assessment of I-lysine supplementation from clinical studies: a systematic review, J. Nutr. 150 (2020) 2561S–2569S, https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxaa218.
- [61] G. Wu, F.W. Bazer, R.C. Burghardt, G.A. Johnson, S.W. Kim, D.A. Knabe, P. Li, X. Li, J.R. McKnight, M.C. Satterfield, T.E. Spencer, Proline and hydroxyproline metabolism: implications for animal and human nutrition, Amino Acids 40 (2011) 1053–1063, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-010-0715-z.
- [62] A.C. Elnahry, F.K. Hassan, A.A. Abdel-Kader, Bevacizumab for the treatment of intraretinal cystic spaces in a patient with gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina,

Ophthalmic Genet. 39 (2018) 759–762, https://doi.org/10.1080/13816810.2018. 1536220.

- [63] M. Inanc, K. Tekin, M.Y. Teke, Bilateral choroidal neovascularization associated with gyrate atrophy managed with intravitreal bevacizumab, Int. Ophthalmol. 38 (2018) 1351–1355, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10792-017-0579-2.
- [64] E. Piozzi, S. Alessi, S. Santambrogio, G. Cillino, M. Mazza, A. Iggui, S. Cillino, Carbonic anhydrase inhibitor with topical NSAID therapy to manage cystoid macular edema in a case of gyrate atrophy, Eur. J. Ophthalmol. 27 (2017) e179–e183, https://doi. org/10.5301/ejo.5001010.
- [65] Ş. Alparslan, M.T. Fatih, Ş. Muhammed, Y. Adnan, Cystoid macular edema secondary to gyrate atrophy in a child treated with sub-tenon injection of triamcinolone acetonide, Rom. J. Ophthalmol. 62 (2018) 246–249, https://doi.org/10.22336/rjo. 2018.37.
- [66] D.V. Vasconcelos-Santos, É.P. Magalhães, M.B. Nehemy, Macular edema associated with gyrate atrophy managed with intravitreal triamcinolone: a case report, Arq. Bras. Oftalmol. 70 (2007) 858–861, https://doi.org/10.1590/ S0004-27492007000500024.
- [67] M. Bakthavatchalam, F.H.P. Lai, S.S. Rong, D.S. Ng, M.E. Brelen, Treatment of cystoid macular edema secondary to retinitis pigmentosa: a systematic review, Surv. Ophthalmol. 63 (2018) 329–339, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.survophthal.2017. 09.009.
- [68] M. Joncquel-Chevalier Curt, P.M. Voicu, M. Fontaine, A.F. Dessein, N. Porchet, K. Mention-Mulliez, D. Dobbelaere, G. Soto-Ares, D. Cheillan, J. Vamecq, Creatine biosynthesis and transport in health and disease, Biochimie. 119 (2015) 146–165, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biochi.2015.10.022.
- [69] S. Stockler-Ipsiroglu, C.D.M. Van Karnebeek, Cerebral creatine deficiencies: a group of treatable intellectual developmental disorders, Semin. Neurol. 34 (2014) 350–356, https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1386772.
- [70] K. Näntö-Salonen, M. Komu, N. Lundbom, K. Heinänen, A. Alanen, I. Sipilä, O. Simell, Reduced brain creatine in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinemia, Neurology. 53 (1999) 303–307, https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl. 53.2.303.
- [71] A.B. Renner, A. Walter, B.S. Fiebig, H. Jägle, Gyrate atrophy: clinical and genetic findings in a female without arginine-restricted diet during her first 39 years of life and report of a new OAT gene mutation, Doc. Ophthalmol. 125 (2012) 81–89, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10633-012-9335-0.
- [72] K.M. Jasani, N.R.A. Parry, G. Black, S.P. Kelly, Unique case of gyrate atrophy with a well-preserved electroretinogram (ERG), BMJ Case Rep. 2018 (2018) 2016–2019, https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2016-217556.
- [73] D.A. Thompson, A. lannaccone, R.R. Ali, V.Y. Arshavsky, I. Audo, J.W.B. Bainbridge, C.G. Besirli, D.G. Birch, K.E. Branham, A.V. Cideciyan, S.P. Daiger, D. Dalkara, J.L. Duncan, A.T. Fahim, J.G. Flannery, R. Gattegna, J.R. Heckenlively, E. Heon, K.T. Jayasundera, N.W. Khan, H. Klassen, B.P. Leroy, R.S. Molday, D.C. Musch, M.E. Pennesi, S.M. Petersen-Jones, E.A. Pierce, R.C. Rao, T.A. Reh, J.A. Sahel, D. Sharon, P.A. Sieving, E. Strettoi, P. Yang, D.N. Zacks, Advancing clinical trials for inherited retinal diseases: Recommendations from the second monaciano symposium, Transl. Vis, Sci. Technol. 9 (2020) 1–19, https://doi.org/10.1167/tvst.9.7.2.
- [74] K. Csaky, F. Ferris, E.Y. Chew, P. Nair, J.K. Cheetham, J.L. Duncan, Report from the NEI/ FDA endpoints workshop on age- related macular degeneration and inherited retinal diseases, Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 58 (2017) 3456–3463, https://doi.org/10. 1167/iovs.17-22339.
- [75] M. Talib, M.J. van Schooneveld, J. Wijnholds, M.M. van Genderen, N.E. Schalij-Delfos, H.E. Talsma, R.J. Florijn, J.B. ten Brink, F.P.M. Cremers, A.A.H.J. Thiadens, L.I. van den Born, C.B. Hoyng, M.A. Meester-Smoor, A.A. Bergen, C.J.F. Boon, Defining inclusion criteria and endpoints for clinical trials: a prospective cross-sectional study in CRB1-associated retinal dystrophies, Acta Ophthalmol. (2021) 1–13, https://doi. org/10.1111/aos.14597.
- [76] M. Talib, CJ.F. Boon, Retinal dystrophies and the road to treatment: clinical requirements and considerations, Asia-Pacific J. Ophthalmol. 9 (2020) 159–179, https://doi. org/10.1097/APO.0000000000290.
- [77] V. Boulanger, M. Schlemmer, S. Rossov, A. Seebald, P. Gavin, Establishing patient registries for rare diseases: rationale and challenges, Pharmaceut. Med. 34 (2020) 185–190, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40290-020-00332-1.